
STRICKEN, NOT HEARD 

 
Rule 2.6. Ensuring the Right to Be Heard 

Rule 2.7. Responsibility to Decide. 

 

STRICKEN AT 4/23/19 EX PARTE HEARING 

 

EXHIBITS INCLUDE ALSO THE TWO ORDERS ENTERED WITH NOTICES OF 

ENTRY (6/24/19 AND 11/22/19 THAT ENABLED THE BENCH ORDERS 

 

 

My Pro Se filings that Judge Kishner declared stricken sua sponte by bench orders at the 

ex parte 4/23/19 hearing (duplicates are not included in exhibits) 

 

4/9/19 Tobin/Hansen Trust Notice of completion of mediation 

4/9/19 Tobin Notice of appearance to return to Pro Se status 

4/10/19  Tobin Opposition to Nationstar's motion for summary judgment against 

Jimijack and countermotion for summary judgment 

4/17/19  Tobin reply to support joinder to Nationstar motion for summary judgment 

 

Order to declare the above seven Pro Se filings rogue was not entered until 11/22/19, five 

months after final judgment order was entered on 6/24/19. 

 

4/23/19 bench orders were not formalized until 11/22/19 order was entered: 

Page 4, paragraph 3 

Because she is not a party to the case, all documents filed with this Court by 

Nona Tobin as an individual, are rogue documents and are stricken from the 

record. This includes both the Motion to Dismiss and Motion for New Trial (and 

all oppositions or replies) and the Notice of Lis Pendens. 

 

 

 

EX PARTE 001 STRICKENTOBIN. 1158

https://drive.google.com/file/d/1BQKUwwyE-310S_fbnu-4s-J1YnBLjh2o/view?usp=sharing
https://drive.google.com/file/d/1VWDCyARPn6XRqxDNsvPAe3xUZkc_YfWD/view?usp=sharing
https://drive.google.com/file/d/1ShqavW_GinmXOzKAWbJs3m3x1FD2nb5C/view?usp=sharing
https://drive.google.com/file/d/1ShqavW_GinmXOzKAWbJs3m3x1FD2nb5C/view?usp=sharing
https://drive.google.com/file/d/1eLIu8gnaT2YxZGP-c0mVuD25dRgInTcm/view?usp=sharing
https://drive.google.com/file/d/1RulJMNZD0LCrw-fF2tw46K4r2_qOm42C/view?usp=sharing
https://drive.google.com/file/d/1SXeADalPuD3si3kypKqKgsPffey6ebJM/view?usp=sharing
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NOTA 

NONA TOBIN 

2664 Olivia Heights Avenue 

Henderson NV 89052 

Phone: (702) 465-2199 

nonatobin@gmail.com 

Defendant-in Intervention/ Cross-Claimant     

In Proper Person 

 

 
 

DISTRICT COURT 
 

CLARK COUNTY, NEVADA 
 

 

JOEL A. STOKES and SANDRA F. 

STOKES, as trustees of the JIMIJACK 

IRREVOCABLE TRUST,                                        

                   Plaintiffs, 

vs. 

 

BANK OF AMERICA, N.A., 

                               Defendant. 

___________________________________ 

NATIONSTAR MORTGAGE, LLC, 

                     Counter-Claimant, 

Vs. 

 

JIMIJACK IRREVOCABLE TRUST;  

                     Counter-Defendant 

_________________________________ 

NONA TOBIN, an individual, Trustee of 

the GORDON B. HANSEN TRUST, dated 

8/22/08 

                                  Cross-Claimant, 

vs. 

JOEL A. STOKES and SANDRA F. 

STOKES, as trustees of the JIMIJACK 

IRREVOCABLE TRUST; SUN CITY 

ANTHEM COMMUNITY 

ASSOCIATION, INC., Yuen K. Lee, an 

individual, d/b/a Manager, F. Bondurant, 

LLC, and DOES 1-10 AND ROE 

CORPORATIONS 1-10, inclusive              

Cross-Defendant. 

 

Case No.:  A-15-720032-C 

 

Consolidated with:  A-16-730078-C 

 

Department:  XXXI 

 

 

 

NOTICE OF APPEARANCE 

 

NONA TOBIN IN PROPER PERSON 

 
 

Case Number: A-15-720032-C

Electronically Filed
4/9/2019 12:10 AM
Steven D. Grierson
CLERK OF THE COURT

EX PARTE 002 STRICKENTOBIN. 1159
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TO: ALL PARTIES AND TO THEIR ATTORNEYS OF RECORD: 

PLEASE TAKE NOTICE that Nona Tobin, an Individual, appears In Proper Person 

Defendant in Intervention/Counterclaimant, Nona Tobin, an Individual. 

All items, including but not limited to pleadings, papers, correspondence, documents 

any other thing related to this matter, can be forwarded to Nona Tobin at the above address and, 

pursuant to NRCP 5(b), to nonatobin@gmail.com via the Clark County electronic filing system. 

__________________________________________ 

NONA TOBIN 

2664 Olivia Heights Avenue 

Henderson NV 89052 

Phone: (702) 465-2199 

nonatobin@gmail.com 

   Defendant-in Intervention/ Cross-Claimant       

In Proper Person 

Dated this 4th day of April, 2019. 

EX PARTE 003 STRICKENTOBIN. 1160
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NCERTIFICATE OF SERVICE 

I ,_____________________________________________, HEREBY CERTIFY that 

on this _____day of April, 2019 and pursuant to NRCP 5(b), I served via the Clark County 

electronic filing system a true and correct copy of the foregoing  NOTICE OF APPEARANCE, 

addressed to: 

Michael R. Mushkin & Associates 

L. Joe Coppedge joe@mushlaw.com

Karen L. Foley karen@mushlaw.com

Michael R. Mushkin michael@mushlaw.com

Lipson Neilson P.C.

Susana Nutt snutt@lipsonneilson.com

Renee Rittenhouse rrittenhouse@lipsonneilson.com

Kaleb Anderson kanderson@lipsonneilson.com

David Ochoa dochoa@lipsonneilson.com

Ashley Scott-Johnson ascott-johnson@lipsonneilson.com

Medrala Law Firm, PLLC

Jakub P Medrala jmedrala@medralaw.com

Shuchi Patel spatel@medralaw.com

Office admin@medralaw.com

Hong & Hong APLC

Joseph Y. Hong, Esq. yosuphonglaw@gmail.com

Nona Tobin nonatobin@gmail.com

Wright Finlay & Zak LLP

Jason Craig jcraig@wrightlegal.net

Michael Kelley mkelley@wrightlegal.net

NVEfile nvefile@wrightlegal.net

___________________________________________ 

NONA TOBIN

8TH

EX PARTE 004 STRICKENTOBIN. 1161
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NOTC 
NONA TOBIN 
2664 Olivia Heights Avenue 
Henderson NV 89052 
Phone: (702) 465-2199 
nonatobin@gmail.com 
     Defendant-in Intervention 
    Cross-Claimant 
   In Proper Person 
 
 
 

DISTRICT COURT 
 

CLARK COUNTY, NEVADA 
 

 
JOEL A. STOKES and SANDRA F. 
STOKES, as trustees of the JIMIJACK 
IRREVOCABLE TRUST,                                        
                   Plaintiffs, 
vs. 
 
BANK OF AMERICA, N.A., 

                               Defendant. 
___________________________________ 
NATIONSTAR MORTGAGE, LLC, 
                     Counter-Claimant, 
Vs. 
 
JIMIJACK IRREVOCABLE TRUST;  
                     Counter-Defendant 
_________________________________ 
NONA TOBIN, an individual, Trustee of the 
GORDON B. HANSEN TRUST, dated 
8/22/08 
                                  Cross-Claimant, 
vs. 
JOEL A. STOKES and SANDRA F. 
STOKES, as trustees of the JIMIJACK 
IRREVOCABLE TRUST; SUN CITY 
ANTHEM COMMUNITY ASSOCIATION, 
INC., Yuen K. Lee, an individual, d/b/a 
Manager, F. Bondurant, LLC, and DOES 1-
10 AND ROE CORPORATIONS 1-10, 
inclusive              

Cross-Defendant. 

 
Case No.:  A-15-720032-C 
 
Consolidated with:  A-16-730078-C 
 
Department:  XXXI 
 
 

 
NOTICE OF COMPLETION OF 

MEDIATION PERSUANT TO  
NRS 38.310 

 

Case Number: A-15-720032-C

Electronically Filed
4/9/2019 2:47 AM
Steven D. Grierson
CLERK OF THE COURT
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NOTICE OF COMPLETION OF MEDIATION 

PERSUANT TO NRS 38.310 

 
 PLEASE TAKE NOTICE that Defendant in Intervention/Counterclaimant, Nona Tobin, 

along with Red Rock Financial Services LLC and Sun City Anthem Community Association, 

Inc. participated in Alternative Dispute Resolution mediation. On August 20, 2018, 

Counterclaimant Tobin submitted an Alternative Dispute Resolution Claim Form to the State of 

Nevada Department of Business and Industry Real Estate Division's Common-Interest 

Communities and Condominium Hotels Program ("NRED"). See Exhibit A. 

 Counterclaimant Tobin, Red Rock Financial Services, LLC, and Sun City Anthem 

participated in the NRED mediation on November 13, 2018. However, the mediation was 

unsuccessful as no agreement was reached, and the matter is now closed.  

A copy of the notice received from Mediator Donald J. Lowrey, Esq., that confirms the 

unsuccessful mediation is attached hereto as Exhibit B. 

Exhibit C contains a confidential memo to the Mediator with documents showing that Sun 

City Anthem was retaliating against Tobin for pursuing this quiet title claim and attempting to get 

it on the record that SCA agents are being unjustly enriched at the expense of homeowners. 

 DATED this ______day of April 2019 

                __________________________________________ 
 NONA TOBIN 

2664 Olivia Heights Avenue 
Henderson NV 89052 

Phone: (702) 465-2199 
nonatobin@gmail.com 

   Defendant-in Intervention/ Cross-Claimant     
                 In Proper Person 

     

9th
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CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE 

I, ______________, hereby certify that on this ____April  I did cause a true and complete 

copy of the above NOTICE OF COMPLETION OF MEDIATION PURSUANT TO NRS 

38.310 to be E-filed and e-served to all parties, via the district court’s EfileNV electronic 

mailing and notification system. 

 

      

      _______________________________________  

 

Nona Tobin 9th
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EXHIBIT A 
 
 
 
 

 
EXHIBIT A 

 
 
 

 
 

EXHIBIT A 
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STATE OF NEVADA 
DEPARTMENT OF BUSINESS AND INDUSTRY 

REAL ESTATE DIVISION 
OFFICE OF THE OMBUDSMAN FOR OWNERS IN 

COMMON-INTEREST COMMUNITIES AND CONDOMINIUM HOTELS 
3300 W. Sahara Ave., Suite 350, Las Vegas, Nevada 89102 

(702) 486-4480 * Toll free: (877) 829-9907 
E-mail: CICOmbudsman@red.nv.gov                  http://red.nv.gov 

 

Revised: 03/13/12                   520B 
 

                                               ALTERNATIVE DISPUTE RESOLUTION (ADR)  
ADDITIONAL RESPONDENT FORM 

This form should only be used in conjunction with Form #520 - ADR Claim Form 
 
Date: ________________    ________________________________________________ 

Signature of Claimant (if Homeowner, must be owner of record) 

___________________________ (http://nvsos.gov/sos) 
If filed on behalf of the Association, provide the Association’s Entity Number as it appears on the Secretary of State’s website.  

 
Respondent: _____________________________________________________      #_____________________________                               
If individual provide full name. If Association, provide COMPLETE Association name and Entity Number as it appears on the Secretary of State’s website. 
Contact Address: _________________________________________________________________________________ 

                                                                  Street                   City  State                         Zip Code 

Contact Phone: ___________________ Fax: ___________________E-Mail:____________________ 
 

 
Respondent: _____________________________________________________      #_____________________________                               
If individual provide full name. If Association, provide COMPLETE Association name and Entity Number as it appears on the Secretary of State’s website. 
Contact Address: _________________________________________________________________________________ 

                                                                  Street                   City  State                         Zip Code 

Contact Phone: ___________________ Fax: ___________________E-Mail:____________________ 
 
 

Respondent: _____________________________________________________      #_____________________________                               
If individual provide full name. If Association, provide COMPLETE Association name and Entity Number as it appears on the Secretary of State’s website. 
Contact Address: _________________________________________________________________________________ 

                                                                  Street                   City  State                         Zip Code 

Contact Phone: ___________________ Fax: ___________________E-Mail:____________________ 
 
 

Respondent: _____________________________________________________      #_____________________________                               
If individual provide full name. If Association, provide COMPLETE Association name and Entity Number as it appears on the Secretary of State’s website. 
Contact Address: _________________________________________________________________________________ 

                                                                  Street                   City  State                         Zip Code 

Contact Phone: ___________________ Fax: ___________________E-Mail:____________________ 
 
 
 
 

For office use only: 
 

Receipt number: _________   Claim number: ________ Date received: _______________________ 

August 20, 2018

Red Rock Financial Services LLC  E0484542011-5

c/o CSC Services of Nevada, 2215-B Renaissance Dr. 89119, registered commercial agent

Joel Just, former President, Red Rock Financial Services, partners IRS tax ID 88-0358132

c/o CSC Services of Nevada, 2215-B Renaissance Dr. 89119, registered commercial agent

Steven Parker, FirstService Residential, Nevada, LLC  LLC3280-1996

c/o CSC Services of Nevada, 2215-B Renaissance Dr. 89119, registered commercial agent

EX PARTE 018 STRICKENTOBIN. 1175



EXHIBIT B 
 
 
 
 

 
EXHIBIT B 

 
 
 

 
 

EXHIBIT B 
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EXHIBIT C 

EXHIBIT C 

EXHIBIT B 
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Nona Tobin’s Confidential memo to mediator Donald Lowrey ADR 19-27 11/5/18 1 

 
Statement Of Disputed Issues. 

(excerpted from document to be shared with all parties) 
 
1. Claimant believes the evidence shows that the sale did not conform to statutes and is void, and that there is no detrimental 

impact to SCA or Nationstar if the title is quieted to Claimant vs. Jimijack. SCA has asserted that all statutes were followed 
and that Nationstar would still have a claim against SCA if the sale were voided. 

2. SCA failed to provide to Claimant the due process described in NRS 116.31085, NRS 116.31031, CC&Rs 7.4 and SCA 
bylaws 3.26, and SCA 11/17/11 Policy Governing Process for Enforcement of the Governing Documents, and SCA Board 
Resolution on Delinquent Assessments prior to sanctioning her by confiscating her house (ultimate sanction) for the alleged 
violation of the governing documents (delinquent assessments) exactly two days after that exact due process was impeccably 
provided prior to a $25 sanction for  the alleged violation of dead tree.  

3. Claimant asserts that SCA Board is guilty of negligent supervision of conflicted agents; and it has violated its duty of care by 
unlawful over-delegation of assessment collection, lack of accounting controls, and a failure to hold agents accountable for 
litigating claims brought against the Association for agents’ misdeeds. This has caused damages to all SCA homeowners, 
including Claimant, and has prevented justice from being served in this case. SCA denies it. 

4. Claimant asserts that SCA has been unfairly using this case to abrogate Claimant’s other rights as an SCA homeowner and 
has created a hostile environment for her in a community where she has lived for nearly 15 years by mischaracterizing the 
nature of the dispute, and her role in it. SCA denies it and claims that the existence of this case has justified their action to 
deem her Board seat vacant and declare her ineligible to serve until this case is complete. 

 
 

Proposed Resolution  
(excerpted from document to be shared with all parties) 

 
1. SCA Board voids the sale as part of this mediation agreement on the basis of SCA former Agents’ failure to follow NRS 

116.3116-NRS 116.31168, other statutes, SCA governing documents and Board policies.  
2. SCA Board declares publicly that it did not authorize, and it does not condone, its former agents unjustly profiting from 

the foreclosure of 2763 White Sage Drive, or any other SCA property, by improper accounting, charging fees in excess 
of the legal limit, failing to offer the owner due process required by law, and failing to distribute the proceeds from the 
sale as required by NRS (2013) 116.31164(3)(c) .  

3. The former agents, not SCA owners, will be required to bear the entire cost of this dispute, including Claimant’s legal 
fees and other costs, and for any other litigation related to pre-2016 foreclosures. 

4. SCA Board confirms that $2,701.04 credited to SCA on August 27, 2014, in the SCA Resident Transaction Report was 
accepted as payment in full for the Gordon B. Hansen account, and that SCA does not have any financial interest in the 
property, and neither loses nor gains financially from voiding the sale. 

5. SCA Board declares, and Claimant concurs, that voiding the sale does not diminish Nationstar’s rights to pursue its 
claims to a security interest nor does voiding the sale grant to Nationstar any beneficial interest in the Western Thrift 
First Deed of Trust that Nationstar cannot prove existed before the sale.  

6. SCA Board declares that neither the Association nor any current or former Board member received any funds, nor 
otherwise benefitted in any way, from its former Agents’ failure to distribute the proceeds in the manner prescribed by 
law.  

7. SCA Board agrees to establish an Owner Oversight Committee for Debt Collection in order to prevent the cost of 
collections continuing to exceed the amount collected and to prevent the Association from being party to abusive 
collection or foreclosure practices. 
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Nona Tobin’s Confidential memo to mediator Donald Lowrey ADR 19-27 11/5/18 2 

Why SCA cannot say “yes” to voiding the sale even if facts are on my side 

The purpose of this confidential memo is to provide context for mediation that I don’t want to share with the attorneys because 
my only hope is to get RRFS to feel like it is more in their interest to void the sale than not.  

My total goal in this mediation is to void the sale and unwind title back to the GBH Trust. 

I hope that my formal statement of the issues, sent by separate email to all parties, will show that I have enough evidence for my 
claim that the sale was defective to prevail at trial. After reading all this, I think it should be hard for anyone to think that a person 
this attentive to detail would let the house be sold for pennies on the dollar if she had thought in a million years that was what 
RRFS would, or even could, do. 

I also hope it convinces the SCA attorney there is benefit for his client, SCA, if he fails to require RRFS pay the litigation costs in 
all seven cases that were caused by RRFS’ method for conducting foreclosures in 2014. 

A-15-720032. Jimijack Irrevocable Trust v. BANA, N.A. & SCACAI,  
A-14-707237-C LN Management LLC series Pine Prairie v. Deutsche Bank 
A-15-711883-C My Global Village LLC v BAC Home Servicing 
A-15-724233-C TRP Fund IV LLC v Bank of Mellon et al 
A-14-702071 Citi-mortgage, Inc v. SCA, (SCA paid $55K to settle in 2017) 
2:17-cv-1800-JAD-GWF FNMA v SCACAI 
2:17-cv-02161-APG-PAL Bank of NY Mellon v. SCACAI 
A-16-735894-C TRP FUND IV v. HSBC Bank 

Why SCA is spending so much on attorneys to shut me up 

The table below shows my interaction with SCA over the past 2 ½ years since I first tried to get them to pay attention to 
how agents that are supposed to be fiduciaries are actually taking advantage of homeowners. My reward has been for them to try 
to bury me in legal fees, ruin my reputation, and kick me off the Board by deeming my position vacant declaring that the 
existence of this case means I could hypothetically make a profit off serving on the Board and am therefore ineligible until all 
appeals to the litigation are done. 

It is very much in the interest of a majority of the Board to keep me from being able to compete in next year’s election (5 of 7 
seats are open). The trial is scheduled for May 28, 2019, and that blocks me until at least 2020. 

I don’t expect any of these issues to be dealt with in this mediation or for you to even click on the many live links.  I just think 
you need to be aware how significant the disputes are between us and the incredible expense SCA “powers that be” are going to 
use this quiet title case to crush me and keep me out of SCA politics.  

No help from regulators 

As you can see in the table, NRED and Nevada Bar Counsel do not reliably protect the public by holding licensees to even a 
minimal legal standard. Administrative enforcement by NRED is so lax that they appear to be complicit with Community 
Association Institute (CAI), trade association for managers, attorneys and other agents, rather than acting to serve the public 
interest. 

Their ineffectiveness enables SCA to continue their style of response to owner complaints: DARVO: Deny, Attack, and Reverse 
Victim and Offender. 

Thank you very much for your consideration and assistance. 

Nona Tobin________________________________________ Dated:___________________8__ November 5, 2017

EX PARTE 025 STRICKENTOBIN. 1182



Nona Tobin’s Confidential memo to mediator Donald Lowrey ADR 19-27 11/5/18 3 

 
 
 

 What I say 
 

What SCA says 

Mid-2016 To CAM: There are two lawsuits on my late 
fiancé’s house, but I want to talk to the BOD before 
intervening. Your agents are stealing. Sold $400K 
house without notice. Kept $60K of proceeds that 
belonged to me if not Nationstar. 

CAM: silence 
BOD President: silence. 

Sept. 2016 I request a copy of the letter about dead plants at my 
fiancé’s house or at least the form letter you use for 
enforcement 

Get a court order 

Dec. 2016 To: President, I am now a defendant in intervention. 
I want to talk to the BOD. This can’t be the only 
house they did this to. 

No. You can’t talk to the BOD. Talk to the 
attorney 
 

Jan. 2017 Rethink the debt collection process. Alessi & 
Koenig dissolved their LLC, defaulted on $614K 
bid rigging judgment, are being sued in 500 of 800 
HOA foreclosures they did, filed for chapter 7 
bankruptcy 

No response to me or any public acknowledgement 
of issue. 
 
Issued an RFP for a new legal counsel 

Feb 2017 Filed a cross-claim against SCA to void the sale for 
statutory noncompliance and accuse agents of 
conducting a non-arms-length sale 

SCA did not answer the complaint.  
Filed two motions to dismiss because I was a pro 
se and for NRS 38.310 

Feb 2017 I filed to be a candidate for the BOD and fought 
with CAM over the wording of my disclosure. 

CAM: you can’t run unless you claim that this law 
suit is a conflict. 
 Leach attorney letter: She can run but can’t say 
certain words in disclosure 

March To Attorney Leach/Anderson: let’s get the SCA out 
of this and settle at no cost to SCA 

Leach attorney: ok to settlement talks 
 
CAM: Changed attorney to Lipson/Ochoa who 
Ochoa: NO to settlement talks:  
1. Your claims are like Nationstar’s.  
2. Besides you’re practicing law without a license 
and  
3. your claims need to go to mediation 
 

April On campaign website: 
1) past BOD meets too much in secret;  
2) GM shouldn’t have been paid $250K when 

Summerlin hired GM for $150K;  
3) BOD shouldn’t have increased dues 10% 

after giving GM a $20K bonus after FSR 
only gone for six months;  

4) BOD needs to be transparent,  
5) need better internal accounting controls, 
6) stop abusive collection practices;  
7) more owner oversight 
8) why lawsuit is not a conflict 

Two incumbent candidates: Nona shouldn’t be 
allowed to run for the BOD because she’s suing 
the association. Besides her experience means 
nothing because she’s never been on any SCA 
committee before. 
The GM is worth $100K over market, the recruiter 
told us so. Nona’s expertise in compensation is 
probably phony and we know better. 
We can’t read her explanation about the lawsuit 
because it’s a matter before the BOD where she 
could make a profit. 
  
 

 I begged the BOD not to select a new attorney until 
the new BOD was seated because SCA overuses 
attorneys to the detriment of owners. 

Despite the BOD agenda action to hire legal 
counsel, Clarkson contract approved to be both 
legal counsel and debt collector. 
 

May I was elected to BOD with 2001 votes and replaced 
incumbent Carl W. 

Rex had 1770 votes and a voting block of 4 votes 
to prevent me from even running to be an officer. 
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Nona Tobin’s Confidential memo to mediator Donald Lowrey ADR 19-27 11/5/18 4 

May 25 I requested collection files as something might need 
be turned over to the bankruptcy court because A & 
K was claiming all the client trust funds were gone. 
 
I signed the over-broad recusal letter to stay out of 
collections matters. 

I was not given the Board book or anything related 
to the Alessi collection files. I was ordered out of 
my first executive session, so they could discuss 
how to handle my conflict due to this case. 
There was unanimous vote to require me to recuse 
myself from all SCA collection matters regardless 
of whether they were totally unrelated to my case.  

May 25 My new attorney represented me in court while I 
was at the SCA executive session and withdrew my 
motion to void the sale and accepted that all claims 
were to be dismissed except quiet title per NRS 
38.310 Link to court minutes 

Ochoa was to write up the order of this hearing, 
but did not file it until 9/20/17, one month after 
they kicked me off the BOD on the pretext that 
this quiet title litigation disqualifies me to serve on 
the BOD. 

June I made multiple proposals to the BOD to form 
owner oversight committees for 
personnel/compensation, debt collection, 
investments, communications 
 
I began researching market studies of HOA 
executive compensation 

All died without a second or were unanimously 
voted down. 
 
Rex told me I was not authorized to study the 
GM’s comp, that it had been a decision of a prior 
BOD, and he would not allow me to see the 
records of a prior BOD’s analysis. 

July Petitions were being circulated for a vote of no 
confidence in the GM & to recall the four 
incumbents who had been on the BOD when the 
GM was hired at such a ridiculous pay level. As the 
liaison to the Election Committee, I told the GM 
that she, the CAM, the attorney and the BOD Pres 
should stop interfering with the recall process. 
 

The GM ignored me. 
 
 

 I requested records that as a Director I had an 
absolute right to see. 
 
I filed a form 781 complaint with NRED about their 
concealing and withholding documents. 

Clarkson prohibited me from seeing any SCA 
records unless he approved it despite this being a 
direct violation of SCA bylaws 6.4. 
 
Clarkson sent me an “attorney-client” cease & 
desist letter threatening me if I kept asking for 
records that I could use to make a profit on from 
this case approved at a secret meeting of the other 
six directors. 
 

 I filed a request for independent oversight of the 
recall petition and election process to the 
Ombudsman. 
 

The Ombudsman said he couldn’t do anything 
unless I filed an intervention affidavit. 
 
 

August I told the election committee that they needed to not 
let management, or the attorney interfere with the 
recall election 

An anti-recall advocate told the Election 
Committee that I had released confidential Board 
info and got them to vote to have me removed as 
liaison because I MIGHT release something 
confidential of theirs. 

8/10 I served a notice of intent on the BOD, the GM, the 
CAM to file an intervention affidavit (IA) for 
harassment and retaliation. 

Refused to let me, a director, put it in the BOD 
packet, even in two-page summary, despite NRS 
116.31187. 
Clarkson called it a “demand letter for money 
damages” and combined with the case cause to 
remove me from the BOD. 

8/11 I served a notice of intent on the GM, the CAM to 
file a form 514A for working without a 
management agreement, concealing records, and 
generally jerking me around 

 No answer. 
 

8/16 I served on Clarkson a notice of intent to file a 
complaint against him to the disciplinary panel of 
the bar. 

No answer.  
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8/11 I told the Election Committee to protect the 
integrity of the recall election process 

Clarkson sent me a second cease & desist letter 
based on my having criticized the GM in my 
confidential email to the Election Committee about 
election interference. 

8/12 I demanded to know who authorized Clarkson to 
write me another cease & desist letter 

No answer 
 

8/12 After I heard that the recall petitions had been 
submitted, I demanded to know why there had been 
no official notice to the BOD and why I, as the 
Election Committee liaison, was particularly 
excluded 

No answer from management, only got one from 
Rex, a subject of one of the petitions, who said 
NRS didn’t require there to be any notice to the 
directors who were not being recalled 

8/16 I tried to put my concerns on the BOD agenda for 
8/24, but it was a fight 

Agenda of my item was deliberately insulting and 
called me “unit owner” not “director”.  
The agenda included kicking me off as the liaison 
to the election committee. 

8/22/17  Clarkson sent me four near identical letters 
denying access to records note the bolded text 
related to this case. 
“Where a Director requests to review Association 
records including tax records, the Director must 
do so in good faith and in pursuit of the best 
interest of the Association. The totality of your 
actions that have occurred since you were elected 
to the Board do not evidence a good faith desire or 
that your requests for records are in pursuit of the 
best interest of the Association. Rather, your 
actions evidence your desire to: 1) do whatever is 
necessary to prove your personal theories 
regardless of the liabilities you may subject the 
Association to pursuant to your position as a 
Board Member; 2) unilaterally control the Board 
by imposing your will upon the remaining Board 
Members in complete disregard of the opinions 
and decisions made by the Board; 3) supplant any 
and all professional advice received by the 
Association with your own professed expert 
opinion; and 4) to pursue your continuously made 
and frivolous allegations of corruption and 
fraud, upon which no basis has been found, and 
upon which you seek to establish in the litigation 
against the Association in which you maintain an 
an interest. 

8/24 AM Executive session which I thought was to be about 
my complaints, but which turned out to be their ruse 
since they had already decided to respond to my 
complaints by kicking me off the BOD. 

GM and attorney were not required to leave the 
room. Other directors were outraged that I was 
complaining and would not discuss the merits of 
my complaints.  
I was told to leave the meeting about 10:30 so they 
could discuss with their attorney how to respond to 
my complaints. 

8/24 1:20 
PM 

I walked into the BOD room for the open meeting 
with prepared remarks to try to be as gracious as 
possible about being removed from the Election 
Committee (I didn’t know at the time that it was 
because of the false accusation of divulging 
confidential info).  
 

In front of 100+ people the V-P handed me a 
Clarkson letter removing me from the BOD, 
effective immediately, SCA’s only response to my 
NOIs aka “demand letters”. 
 
Clarkson would not explain to the crowd why, but 
they published on 8/29 that it was because I had 
put matters before the BOD from which I could 
make a profit and so they deemed by position 
vacant by operation of law. 
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At the meeting Clarkson removed the Election 
Committee from their chartered duties over the 
recall election without any formal action by the 
BOD , hired a CPA to send out ballot that many 
people threw away as junk mail, at an unbudgeted 
cost of nearly $100K. 

9/2/ I asked a friend to mail the complaint against 
Clarkson to the Nevada Bar for me since I was 
leaving for a planned vacation in Hawaii. In the 
packet were also three NRED IAs for 1) harassment 
& retaliation, 2) recall election interference, and  
3) unlawfully removing me from the BOD 

In less than five working days, the NV Bar 
rejected the complaint - no clear and convincing 
evidence. 

9/2 I gave the three IAs and the Form 514A along with 
a binder of several hundred pages of documentation 
to be hand-delivered to NRED (the person 
delivering it was a former member of the CIC 
commission. 

NRED would not accept the IAs because they 
were signed as declarations per NRS and not 
53.045 under penalty of perjury and were not 
notarized, but then after I submitted notarized IAs, 
they were acknowledged by email, but never gave 
me an official notice or even the case number 

Sept I complained to NRED because SCA never 
responded to my demands for documents, 

Clarkson supplied a binder of nonresponsive 
materials 

Sept 2017 Early case conference call Ochoa finally filed the order from the 5/25/17 
hearing to dismiss my claims per NRS 38.310 

October 
2017 

I provided more documentation to NRED about the 
unlawful nature of removing me from the BOD on  

Noted and filed 

January 
2018 

Filed another affidavit to NRED because Clarkson 
refused to allow me to get a copy of the employee 
salary table for 2018  

Clarkson revised the Election manual to say that 
even disclosing litigation was insufficient. It was 
disqualifying for the Board. 
 

February 
2018 

I applied for the BOD and appealed when rejected 
by Rex. 

Clarkson wrote me another letter and the Election 
Committee treated me like I was a monster for 
daring to come to a meeting. 

April 2018 Joint Case conference meeting 4/20/18 Ochoa finally files an answer my 2/1/17 
cross claim with only blanket denials. 

May Initial disclosure for discovery Ochoa only puts one thing on his privileges log my 
late fiancé’s death certificate 

June I met with the NRED Chief Compliance Officer and 
asked him why they have never answered my 
complaints or even told me the case numbers  

No answer to my follow-up email 
 

August After receiving NRED’s highly unsatisfactory 
response, I quit writing my blog, SCAstrong.com, 
stopped going to BOD meetings, and filed a claim 
for mediation in this case ADR 19-27. 

NRED, conflated all my complaints, but one 
(unspecified) into one perfunctory dismissal which 
misunderstood the facts, misapplied the law, and 
blocked serious issues like election interference 
and tampering with the composition of an HOA 
BOD, from being heard by the CIC commission. 

October 25 I have received no notice from NRED about what 
the one issue was that was not included in their 
otherwise-blanket dismissal of my complaints. 

It was announced at the BOD meeting that NRED 
had dismissed my one open complaint and that it 
was awful how they had to spend $25,000 to 
attorney’s to answer my frivolous complaints this 
year. 
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OPPC 
NONA TOBIN 
2664 Olivia Heights Avenue 
Henderson NV 89052 
Phone: (702) 465-2199 
nonatobin@gmail.com 
Defendant-in Intervention/ Cross-Claimant    
In Proper Person 

DISTRICT COURT 

CLARK COUNTY, NEVADA 

JOEL A. STOKES and SANDRA F. 
STOKES, as trustees of the JIMIJACK 
IRREVOCABLE TRUST,                                       

Plaintiffs, 
vs. 

BANK OF AMERICA, N.A., 
Defendant. 

___________________________________ 
NATIONSTAR MORTGAGE, LLC, 

Counter-Claimant, 
Vs. 

JIMIJACK IRREVOCABLE TRUST; 
Counter-Defendant 

_________________________________ 
NONA TOBIN, an individual, Trustee of the 
GORDON B. HANSEN TRUST, dated 
8/22/08 

Cross-Claimant, 
vs. 
JOEL A. STOKES and SANDRA F. 
STOKES, as trustees of the JIMIJACK 
IRREVOCABLE TRUST; SUN CITY 
ANTHEM COMMUNITY ASSOCIATION, 
INC., Yuen K. Lee, an individual, d/b/a 
Manager, F. Bondurant, LLC, and DOES 1-
10 AND ROE CORPORATIONS 1-10, 
inclusive             

Cross-Defendant. 

Case No.:  A-15-720032-C 

Consolidated with:  A-16-730078-C 

Department:  XXXI 

TOBIN OPPOSITION TO 
NATIONSTAR MOTION FOR 
SUMMARY JUDGMENT AGAINST 
JIMIJACK AND COUNTER MOTION 
FOR SUMMARY JUDGMENT 

HEARING REQUESTED IN 
CONJUNCTION WITH HEARING FOR 
NATIONSTAR MSJ SCHEDULED: 

APRIL23, 2019 9:30 AM 
HEARING: APRIL 23, 2019 9:30 AM 

Case Number: A-15-720032-C

Electronically Filed
4/10/2019 11:17 AM
Steven D. Grierson
CLERK OF THE COURT

EX PARTE 030 STRICKENTOBIN. 1187

mailto:nonatobin@gmail.com


1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

Defendant in Intervention/Counterclaimant, Nona Tobin, an Individual, (Tobin), appearing 

In Proper Person, opposes Nationstar Mortgage’s (NSM’s) Motion for Summary Judgment (MSJ) 

against Joel and Sandra Stokes, Individuals and as Trustees for Jimijack Irrevocable Trust 

(Jimijack) scheduled to be heard on April 23, 2019 @ 9:30 AM.  

Tobin’s opposition seeks to demonstrate to the Court that NSM is abusing this HOA 

foreclosure dispute  adjudication process to circumvent Nevada’s anti-foreclosure fraud laws. 

Tobin will show the Court that NSM’s claims to own the beneficial interest of the disputed Deed 

of Trust are provably false.  

Tobin requests that her opposition to NSM’s receiving quiet title without proving its 

ownership of the note be heard at 9:30AM on April 23, 2019 simultaneously with NSM’s MSJ 

against Jimijack and Tobin’s MSJ against Jimijack presented herein. 

MEMORANDUM OF POINTS AND AUTHORITIES 

I. INTRODUCTION

Tobin herein opposes NSM’s March 21, 2019 MSJ against Jimijack, as none of 

NSM’s “undisputed facts” establish that NSM’s has a legal right to foreclose. Its claims to title 

are provably false . 

Tobin’s counter motion seeks to quiet title in her favor against Jimijack, on different 

grounds, i.e., Tobin’s March 28, 2017 deed has priority over Jimijack’s inadmissible deed, 

recorded June 9, 2015. Tobin respectfully requests that the Court consider Tobin’s counter 

motion against Jimijack in conjunction with NSM’s motion and Tobin’s opposition to NSM on 

April 23, 2019 at 9:30 AM. 
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II. RECENT PROCEDURAL HISTORY 

1. On February 5, 2019, Sun City Anthem filed a Motion for Summary Judgment against 

Tobin claiming that the HOA sale complied with statutory notice requirements and that Tobin 

was barred from re-gaining title due to equitable principles of unclean hands and failure to dispute 

the charges.  

2. On February 12, 2019 Nationstar filed a limited Joinder to the SCA motion, claiming the 

HOA sale was valid, but that the sale did not extinguish the deed of trust. 

3. On March 5, 2019 Tobin filed an opposition to the SCA MSJ claiming that the sale was 

not statutorily compliant, and it was unfair, involved deceit and SCA failed to provide due process 

defined by, and guaranteed, by the SCA governing documents and NRS 116.  

4. Tobin’s also opposed the Nationstar Joinder as  

a. its claim was not based on any actual knowledge or evidence,  

b. it misleads the court to think that Nationstar’s claim to own the beneficial interest 

in the DOT is undisputed,   

c. Nationstar’s, and its predecessor BANA’s, mortgage servicing abuses 

unreasonably prevented four arms-length sales to bona fide purchasers and the abuses 

of both servicing banks were the proximate cause of the unnecessary HOA foreclosure 

and assessments not being paid out of escrow as Tobin had instructed. 

5. On March 14, 2019, Tobin filed a complaint with the NV Attorney General alleging that 

this case is illustrative of a scam being perpetuated by unscrupulous HOA debt collectors, “vulture 

investors, and mortgage servicing banks, and/or their attorneys for their own unjust enrichment 

at the expense of HOAs and HOA members.    

6. On March 18, 2019, Nationstar suddenly filed a three-day Notice of Intent to take default 

against Plaintiff Jimijack if Jimijack didn’t answer Nationstar’s nearly three-year-old August 2, 

2016 counter-claim for quiet title within three days. 

7. On March 21, 2019 filed a motion for summary judgment against Jimijack on the basis 

that it is undisputed that SCA rejected BANA’s May 9, 2013 tender of the super-priority amount 

of $825 for nine months of delinquent assessments.  
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8. On March 26, 2019, a hearing was held on SCA’s MSJ and NSM’s Joinder against Tobin.

9. Tobin’s opposition to SCA’s MSJ, filed March 5, 2019 by the Gordon B. Trust attorney, 

Joe Coppedge, was not considered at the March 26, 2019 hearing as the Court had entered a 

minute order of default against Tobin at approximately the same hour the opposition was filed.

10. The March 5, 2019 minute order of default was vacated at the March 26 hearing.

11. The March 26 hearing resulted in a ruling on SCA’s MSJ against Tobin without Tobin’s 

counsel having timely placed before the Court any of Tobin’s arguments or pleadings in 

opposition.

12. Nona Tobin, an Individual, filed a Notice of Appearance In Proper Person, on April 9, 

2019.

III. OTHER PROCEDURAL HISTORY SHOWS NSM'S TACTICS
13. June 16, 2015 Jimijack v. BANA & SCA was case A-15-720032-C

14. On October 16, 2015, an order entered for judgment of default against BANA

15. January 11, 2016 NSM v. Opportunity Homes LLC was filed as A-16-730078-C

16. Opportunity Homes LLC never answered NSM’s A-16-730078-C complaint

17. On April 12, 2016 NSM filed a motion to set aside default judgment against BANA,

substitute as real party in interest, and to intervene on A-15-720032-C. 

6. On June 7, 2016, an order was entered denying NSM’s motion to set aside the default

and substitute parties, but that did grant NSM’s motion to intervene stating 

The court finds that at the time this action was commenced, there was an assignment of the 
deed of trust al issue in the chain of title to the property in dispute allowing that Nationstar 
Mortgage, LLC claims some right, title or interest in and to the property arising from the deed 
of trust. 

7. The June 7, 2016order did not create for NSM any “right, title or interest in and to the

property arising from the deed of trust” that NSM does not otherwise have in law. 
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8. It merely states that NSM “claims some right, title or interest in and to the property arising 

from the deed of trust” 

9. NSM has not disclosed any undisputed document that proves .it actually has any “right, 

title or interest in and to the property arising from the deed of trust” 

10. When the two cases were consolidated, NSM filed an answer and counterclaim against 

Jimijack on August 2, 2016. 

11. Jimijack didn’t answer NSM’s 8/2/16 counter-claim until 3/25/19. 

12. NSM never filed TDN Notice of Intent to take default against Opportunity Homes 

13. NSM added F. Bondurant, LLC as a party by just adding it in the caption. 

14. F. Bondurant did not answer NSM. 

IV. ARGUMENT 

A. Tobin opposes NSM bid for quiet title for the following reasons: 

13. NSM should not be rewarded for being the proximate cause of the HOA foreclosure sale 

and then using the dispute over the sale to obfuscate that DOT assignments recorded post-sale 

were false, and possibly felonious, claims against title. 

14. Servicing bank, NSM, and its predecessor Bank of America (BANA), subjected Tobin to 

abusive collection practices for several years, including blocking four legitimate arms-length 

sales of the property, taking possession in 2013 without foreclosing, and refusing to identify the 

beneficiary of the deed of trust. 

15. Both NSM and BANA prevented Tobin paying the total amounts claimed by the HOA 

out of any of the escrows opened for these four arms-length for fair market purchase offers from 

bona fide purchasers. 

16. Both BANA and NSM have recorded false and unauthorized claims to own the beneficial 

interest of the deed of trust. 

17. The procedural history of the consolidated cases, A-16-730078-C and A-15-720032, 

shows that NSM is abusing the current HOA foreclosure dispute as a means to gain standing to 
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foreclose without meeting the rigorous standards of AB 284 (2011). 

18. If the Court awards NSM’s MSJ v. Jimijack, NSM gets a nearly $400,000 windfall by 

evading the legal obligations of NRS 107 to prove that it has possession of the original promissory 

note signed by Gordon Hansen in 2004.  

19. NSM’s own disclosures show NSM does not hold the original promissory note. 

20. NSM0258 is a copy of the promissory note. 

21. Absent physical possession the original note, Nationstar cannot claim it is the noteholder 

any more than Tobin could claim that some debtor owed her money if she held only a copy of 

that debtor’s I.O.U. to a third party, particularly if that copy of the note was endorsed to multiple 

other parties, but was never endorsed to Tobin or to whoever Tobin said gave it to her. 

22. NSM059 shows undated, unrecorded endorsements of the copy of the promissory note to 

third parties with no unbroken chain of title to either BANA or NSM. 

23. NSM’s responses to Tobin’s ROGGs and RFDs concealed multiple records that prove 

NSM was only authorized to function as the servicing bank, is not the noteholder and does not 

legally own the beneficial interest of the deed of trust. 

24. Forrest Barbee, Berkshire-Hathaway Home Services (BHHS) enabled NSM to perpetuate 

this fraud by failing to produce the records Tobin subpoenaed from EQUATOR, BANA’s and 

NSM’s electronic filing system that tracks communications between the listing agent, the 

servicing bank, and the “Investor”, i.e., noteholder/beneficiary. 

B. Tobin’s earlier arguments were not placed before the court.  

25. See Exhibit A for the “Declaration of Nona Tobin in Opposition to Nationstar’s Motion 

for Summary Judgment” that Tobin prepared and signed on March 22, 2019 that counsel 

refused to file, but that Tobin will now file as a Pro Se. 

26. See Exhibit B Tobin’s March 14, 2019 filing with the Nevada Attorney General that 

includes the following statement of this case: 
 

The civil action is A-15-720032-C. Three parties are competing for quiet title 
following a disputed 8/15/14 HOA foreclosure sale. I became the Trustee of 
the Gordon B. Hansen Trust, former owner of the property, when Gordon 
Hansen died on 1/14/12. Nationstar, the respondent in this AG complaint is 
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lying to the court in its claims to own the beneficial interest of the Western 
Thrift & Loan deed of trust executed by Gordon Hansen on 7/15/04, and they 
are trying to get quiet title through this HOA foreclosure action by claiming I 
don't have standing  to introduce evidence of Nationstar's fraud unless the court 
first invalidates the HOA sale. This is an underhanded legal trick. If I don't 
have standing until I prove the HOA sale was statutorily-noncompliant, then 
Nationstar does not have standing because its claims to own the underlying 
note are provably false. 
 
Attached is a draft MSJ I prepared which has not been reviewed by counsel, 
but which outlines the procedural history and incorporates links to court 
documents and some of the evidence I have that Nationstar's claims are based 
on false affidavits recorded by Nationstar and the predecessor servicing bank, 
Bank of America (BANA). 
 
There will be a hearing on March 26 at 9:30 in dept 31, 8th district court, when 
Judge Kishner, will consider Sun City Anthem's motion for summary 
judgment against me and Nationstar's joinder to the SCA MSJ, and my 
opposition to both. I do not know if my attorney will file a counter-motion for 
summary judgment although I am begging him to file the one attached herein 
that I proposed. 
 
The problem I am trying to prevent is Judge Kishner ruling that the HOA sale 
was valid but did not extinguish the deed of trust in which case Nationstar will 
unjustly profit from getting ownership of the deed of trust, by duplicity, filing 
false affidavits, fraudulent concealment, and otherwise without having proved 
that it actually owns the beneficial interest of the DOT or has possession of the 
original note.  
 
In my view, were Nationstar's fraud to succeed, Nationstar has caused me 
damages equal to the current value of the property, 2763 White Sage, (APN 
191-13-811-052), approximately $500,000. Further, any future Nationstar 
foreclosure involving a credit bid, even if I am bumped out of the quiet title 
case, would be tantamount to a theft of $389,000, the unpaid balance of the 
DOT.  
 
I will forward to AGComplaint@ag.nv.gov an email sent earlier today to 
AGInfo@ag.nv.gov since it explains that the mortgage servicing fraud 
perpetrated by Nationstar and BANA against me in this case is systemic in 
nature. My case is not a class action and cannot address this pervasive pattern. 
 
The AG needs to be aware that the fraud that I uncovered over the past four 
years has been difficult to discern as the guilty parties have aggressively sought 
to evade detection. The statute of limitations is undoubtedly going to run out 
on these other cases, but I have research on several dozen HOA foreclosures 
that I request the AG review for possible criminal charges. 
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27. See Exhibit C for Tobin’s Motion for Summary Judgment against NSM, submitted as a 

draft to the Attorney General, but not filed into this case by Tobin’s counsel. 

28. See Exhibit D, a second drafted, but unfiled Motion for Summary Judgment intended by 

Tobin to be heard on March 26 as a counter motion for summary judgment against SCA. 

29. Without these arguments being placed before the Court, Tobin’s claim that actions taken 

by the SCA Board in secret are voidable. 

30. The Court could not understand the significant differences between Tobin’s claims and 

those of a typical HOA foreclosure dispute. 

 
V. LEGAL STANDARD 

A. NSM did not meet its burden that there are no issues of material fact disputed that 
would warrant it being granted a Motion for Summary Judgment against Jimijack, and in 
effect, against Tobin. 
 

1. "Substantive   law  controls   which   factual   disputes  are   material   and   will preclude 

summary judgment; other factual disputes are irrelevant." Wood v. Safeway,  Inc.,  121 

Nev. 742, 7  11121  P.3d  1026 (2005), citing  Anderson  v.  Liberty  Lobby,  Inc.,  477  

U.S. 242,  106  S.Ct. 2505 (1986). 

2. "A factual dispute is genuine when the evidence is such that a rational trier of fact could 

return a verdict for the non-moving party." Wood, citing Matushila Electric Industrial 

Co. v. Zenith Radio, 475 U.S. 574,106 S.Ct. 1348 (1986). 

3. The moving party may have the initial burden of identifying the portions of the 

materials on file that they believe demonstrate the absence of a genuine issue of material  

fact.   

4. The non-moving party may not rest upon general allegations and conclusions, but 

must  use  "admissible evidence" to show the existence of a genuine factual issue. The 

non-moving party "is  not  entitled to build a case on  the  gossamer  threads  of  whimsy,  

speculation  and  conjecture." Posadas v. City of' Reno, l 09 Nev. 448, 851 P.2d 438 (l 

993), citing Collins v. Union Fed. Savings & Loan, 99 Nev. 284,662 P.2d 610 (1983).  
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5. See also: N.R.C.P. 56(e); Van Cleave v. Kielz-Mill Minute Marl, 97 Nev. 414, 633 

P.2d 1220 (1981), citing Thomas v. Bokelman, 86Nev.  10,  462  P.2d  l 020   (l970):  "The   

opponent   must   nevertheless   show   he   can   produce evidence at trial to support his claim.". 

6. The "'slightest doubt' standard previously used in Nevada's summary judgment 

law"was also rejected by Wood v. Safeway, Inc., 121 Nev. 724 12 l P.3d l 026 (2005), which 

adopted the summary judgment standard employed by the federal courts in Anderson 

v. Liberty Lobby, Inc., 477 U.S. 242, 106 S.Ct. 2505 (1986), Celotex Co1p. v. 

Catrett, 477 U.S. 317, 106 S.Ct. 25 112548 (1986) , and Matsushita Electric 

Industrial Co. v. Zenith Radio, 475 U.S. 574, 106 S.Ct. 26 II 1348 (1986).  

 
B. NSM must comply with Nevada legal framework defining how lenders establish 
standing to foreclose vs. gaining title by tricking Judge Kishner. 
 
1. AB 284 (2011) was Nevada’s anti-foreclosure fraud law. specifies duties of the trustee; 

assignments not effective unless and until recorded; notarized affidavit under penalty of perjury 

that the lender or trustee is in actual possession of the note; civil penalties for mortgage lending 

fraud. 

1. See Exhibit for Assemblyman Marcus Conklin’s March 31, 2011 summary of the 

legislative changes. 

2. See Exhibit for the 2011 Legislative Digest mark-up of specific wording changes to NRS 

Chapter 107 regarding Deeds of Trust and NRS Chapter 205 regarding Crimes Against Property. 

3. Note that in addition to the criminal penalties associated executing or notarizing a false 

claim to title that might apply to persons who executed or notarized Jimijack’s deed or the April 

4, 2012 DOT assignment to BANA (NRS 205.395), there is an additional penalty for lenders that 

have engaged in a pattern of deceit in false representations to title (NRS 205.372). 

C. Other relevant laws that were ignored to Tobin’s detriment 
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1. SB 321 (2013)  Nevada Homeowner Bill of Rights – prevention of “dual tracking”  

that prohibited lenders from both engaging with the owner to seek foreclosure alternatives, e.g., 

short sale, loan modification, and filing a notice of default and intent to sell.  BANA and NSM 

blocked closing on four escrows thereby preventing the HOA being paid, did not accept title when 

a  deed in lieu was offered, but took possession unilaterally without foreclosing, i.e., locked Tobin 

out, but left the liability with her, and did not publish a notice of default and intent to sell for over 

two years. 

2. NRS 116.31162 (6) prohibits an HOA from foreclosing if a lender has already published a 

notice of default and intent to sell. How this scam works: If either or BANA or NSM actually had 

standing to foreclose, the legal way to initiate that process is through publishing publish a notice 

of default and intent to sell. By not doing so, the banks servicing a loan that had been securitized 

out of existence sent a strong signal to SCA’s debt collector and real estate speculators in the know 

that 2763 White Sage Drive was a prime target to snap up at a “public” auction for pennies on a 

dollar. NSM just had to let Jimijack collect rent for five years without paying on a note, file a 

bunch of fake claims post-sale against the title, claiming to be the undisputed owner of the note.     

3. 12 CFR1026.39 Mortgage transfer disclosures  - Truth in Lending (TILA) requires the 

owner to be told who owns the note and has authority to collect on it. 

 

VI. CONCLUSION 

 Tobin prays the Court will not grant NSM’s motion for summary judgment against Jimijack 

as it would be an unwitting accomplish to the perpetuation of mortgage servicing fraud through 

abuse of the quiet title process. 
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 Tobin respectfully prays the Court to ensure that Nationstar does not magically get 

ownership of an approximately $400,000 note without proving it owns it.  

 Further, if this matter goes to trial, Tobin prays the Court will compel Nationstar to disclose 

documents withheld from Tobin in discovery that clearly establish the falsity of its claims. 

 

____________________________________ 
 NONA TOBIN 

2664 Olivia Heights Avenue 
Henderson NV 89052 

Phone: (702) 465-2199 
nonatobin@gmail.com 

   Defendant-in Intervention/ Cross-Claimant     
In Proper Person 

         
     
 

TOBIN MOTION FOR SUMMARY JUDGMENT AGAINST JIMIJACK 
 

Defendant in Intervention/Counterclaimant, NONA TOBIN, AN INDIVIDUAL, In 

Proper Person, moves for summary judgment on Joel A. Stokes' and Sandra F. Stokes', as 

trustees of the Jimijack Irrevocable Trust (Jimijack) on her counterclaim for quiet 

title/declaratory relief. 

MEMORANDUM OF POINTS AND AUTHORITIES 

I. INTRODUCTION 

Tobin moves the Court to grant Summary Judgment in Tobin’s favor against Jimijack for 

these reasons: 
• Tobin’s valid deed is superior to Jimijack’s inadmissible deed 
• Jimijack did not attend mediation pursuant to NRS 38.310 while Tobin did. 
• Jimijack’s claims of how and when it acquired title as disputed by the HOA 

ownership record, the Resident Transaction Report 
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II. STATEMENT OF UNDISPUTED FACTS 

A. Sun City Anthem ownership record: Resident Transaction Report  

 The Sun City Anthem ownership record for the property, 2763 White Sage Drive,  is 
known as the 

“Resident Transaction Report 
SUCI Sun City Anthem Community Association 

Date 01/01/2000-04/01/2016” 
 

7. Page 1337 (TOBIN000113) of the Resident Transaction Report identifies Jimijack as the 

second owner of the Property, “Res ID 0480 02”, effective 9/25/14. 

8. Page 1337 (TOBIN000113) of the Resident Transaction Report has an entry showing that 

Jimijack paid a new owner “Account setup fee Resal” on setup fee of $225.00 on 9/25/14. 

9. The complete ownership record of the Property from “Date 01/01/2000-04/01/2016”, 

Pages 1334 through 1337 (TOBIN00110 - TOBIN00113) contains no entry that identifies Thomas 

Lucas, or Opportunity Homes LLC, alleged purchaser at the 8/15/14 SCA foreclosure sale, as ever 

being an owner of the Property.  

10. The complete ownership record of the Property from “Date 01/01/2000-04/01/2016”, 

Pages 1334 through 1337 (TOBIN00110 - TOBIN00113) contains no entry that identifies F. 

Bondurant LLC, or Yuen Lee, Manager, as ever being an owner of the Property.  

B. Quit claim deed recorded on June 9, 2015 

11. NSM0189-0191 disclosed a quit claim deed, executed on 6/8/15 by Yuen Lee, which 

purported to transfer all interest in the Property to Jimijack from F. Bondurant LLC. 

 (NSM0190) shows the notary statement 

“On this 8th day of June, 2015 dis personally appear before me, CluAynne M. 
Corwin , a notary public in and for  County of Clark, State of Nevada, did personally 
appear before me the person of Thomas Lucas, Manager of Opportunity 
Homes LLC, (emphasis added) personally known to me (or proved to me on the 
basis of satisfactory evidence) to be the person whose name is subscribed to this 
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Quitclaim Deed; and, acknowledged to me that he executed the same in his capacity, 
and that by his signature on this instrument did execute the same. 

   

12. There is no entry in CluAynne M. Corwin’s notary journal on 6/8/15 that she 

witnessed anyone execute a deed transferring the Property to Jimijack. 

13. Nona Tobin went to the office shared by Jimijack’s and Yuen Lee’s attorney, Joseph 

Hong, and Peter Mortenson, supervisor of notary CluAynne M. Corwin to get a certified 

copy of the nonexistent notary journal entry.   

14. TOBIN001378-TOBIN001403 contains Nona Tobin’s declaration, made under 

penalty of perjury on 1/17/17, in preparation for submitting a complaint to the Nevada 

Secretary of State after the conclusion of these proceedings.  

C. Tobin’s recorded claims to title 

D. Nona Tobin, an Individual, has a valid recorded deed dated 3/28/17. 

E. Jimijack’s only deed, recorded on 6/9/15 is inadmissible as evidence as it is fraught with 

notarial violations that rendered it legally insufficient to convey title. 

a. There is no entry in the notary’s journal that she witnessed the execution of 

Jimijack’s deed. 

b. The notary claimed Thomas Lucas stood before her when Yuen Lee executed the 

6/8/15 deed purporting to convey title to Jimijack. 

F. Jimijack’s recorded claim is contradicted by the HOA ownership records that say Jimijack 

became the owner on 9/25/14 and that neither Thomas Lucas nor Yuen Lee ever owned the 

property. 

G. Jimijack did not disclose a written purchase agreement. 

H. Jimijack has rented this property for close to five years without paying on the note. P1 

footnote, 3/21/19 NSM MSJ 

I. Nationstar will let Jimijack keep the five-years of profit if Nationstar tricks the Court into 

awarding it quiet title by not understanding that its claims to be the noteholder are provably false. 
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1. Other parties with a previous claimed interest, i.e., Steve Hansen, Thomas Lucas,

Opportunity Homes, LLC., Yuen K. Lee, F. Bondurant, LLC, have all filed and recorded

Disclaimers of Interest in the property in 2017.

2. Nationstar’s MSJ against Jimijack and its joinder with SCA against Tobin was a legal

maneuver  to gain a Court order that magically gives it standing to foreclose on a $389,000 note it

does not own.

J. On 8/27/08, Gordon B. Hansen transferred ownership of the property into the

Gordon B. Hansen Trust, dated 8/22/08. (TOBIN001210 – TOBIN001213). 

15. On 5/23/16, Tobin recorded a Certificate of Incumbency including Gordon Hansen’s

death certificate and a sworn affidavit, dated 6/20/14, prepared at Nationstar’s request. 

16. On 5/20/13, Nona Tobin signed a notarized Identity Affidavit, required by servicing

bank, Bank of America. (TOBIN 001177). 

17. On 3/28/17, Nona Tobin, as Trustee, of the Gordon B. Hansen Trust, dated August

22, 2008, recorded and filed into this case, Steve Hansen's Disclaimer of Interest in the 

Property and in the Gordon B. Hansen Trust. 

18. On 3/28/17, Nona Tobin, as Trustee, of the Gordon B. Hansen Trust, dated August

22, 2008,  transferred any and all of the Gordon B. Hansen Trust's interest in the property, 

to Nona Tobin, an individual, (NSM 0208-0211).  

K. Jimijack’s Relevant Procedural History

19. Jimijack filed its original complaint on 6/16/15 against Sun City Anthem and Bank of 

America.

20. Jimijack, for unknown reasons, never served Sun City Anthem.

21. On 2/1/17 Tobin filed an answer and counter-claim against Jimijack.

22. On 3/7/17 Tobin filed a TDN when Jimijack did not timely answer.
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23. On 3/13/17, Jimijack answered Tobin’s counterclaim, but in a perfunctory denial with no 

specifics or evidence to support the numeric recitation of denials.  

24. Jimijack’s lack of substantive denial of Tobin’s claims was brought to the Court’s attention 

by Tobin on 4/10/17 in her ROPP to SCA’s Opposition to Tobin’s 3/3/17 motion to void the sale. 

 
Plaintiffs Stokes/Jimijack finally replied to Tobin's 2/1/17 counter-claim on 
3/13/17, but only with the same unsubstantiated recitation of denials by 
paragraph number and boilerplate affirmative defenses. The court may decline 
to consider this reply both for lack of timeliness and for failing to meet the 
minimum standards of local rule 2.20(i). 

Page 5, line 9 4/10/17 Tobin ROPP 

25. Jimijack did not answer Nationstar’s 8/2/16 answer and counter-claim for over two years. 

26. Nationstar filed a Notice of Intent to take Default on 3/21/19. 

27. Jimijack answered Nationstar’s 8/2/16 counter-claim on 3/25/19. 

28. Jimijack 3/25/19 answer was perfunctory and totally lacking in substance. 

29. On 3/21/19, Nationstar filed a Motion for summary judgment against Jimijack. 

 
I. LEGAL STANDARD 

A. Summary judgment pursuant to NRCP rule 56(c)  

“…The judgment sought shall be rendered forthwith if the pleadings, 
depositions, answers to interrogatories, and admissions on file, together with 
the affidavits, if any, show that there is no genuine issue as to any material 
fact and that the moving party is entitled to a judgment as a matter of law…” 
 

30. The moving party may have the initial burden of identifying the portions of the 

materials on file that they believe demonstrate the absence of a genuine issue of material  

fact.   

31. The non-moving party may not rest upon general allegations and conclusions, but 

must  use  "admissible evidence" to show the existence of a genuine factual issue. The 

non-moving party "is  not  entitled to build a case on  the  gossamer  threads  of  whimsy,  

speculation  and  conjecture." Posadas v. City of' Reno, l 09 Nev. 448, 851 P.2d 438 (l 

993), citing Collins v. Union Fed. Savings & Loan, 99 Nev. 284,662 P.2d 610 (1983).  
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32. See also: N.R.C.P. 56(e); Van Cleave v. Kielz-Mill Minute Marl, 97 Nev. 414, 633 

P.2d 1220 (1981), citing Thomas v. Bokelman, 86Nev.  10,  462  P.2d  l 020   (l970):  "The   

opponent   must   nevertheless   show   he   can   produce evidence at trial to support his claim.". 
 
B. NRS Chapter 111 REGARDING CONVEYANCE OF REAL PROPERTY  
 
33. Deeds must conform to the standards defined in NRS Chapter 111. (NRS 

111.105) 

34. A notary as a subscribing witness must establish the identity of the person 

whose signature is witnessed. (NRS 111.120) 

35. Notarize the right person (NRS 111.125) 

36. The instrument can be challenged. (NRS 111.340) 

37. If challenged, “neither such conveyance or instrument, nor the record thereof, 

shall be received in evidence, until established by other competent proof.” (NRS 

111.345) 

38. NRS 111.105  Conveyances by deed.  Conveyances of lands, or of 
any estate or interest therein, may be made by deed, signed by the person 
from whom the estate or interest is intended to pass, being of lawful age, 
or by the person’s lawful agent or attorney, and acknowledged or 
proved, and recorded, as directed in this chapter. 
 

39. NRS 111.120  Conditions necessary before proof by subscribing 
witness can be taken.  No proof by a subscribing witness shall be taken 
unless the witness shall be personally known to the person taking the proof 
to be the person whose name is subscribed to the conveyance as witness 
thereto, or shall be proved to be such by the oath or affirmation of a 
credible witness. 
 
NRS 111.125 Proof required from subscribing witnesses. No 
certificate of proof shall be granted unless subscribing witnesses shall 
prove: 1. That the person whose name is subscribed thereto as a party is 
the person described in, and who executed the same. 2. That such person 
executed the conveyance. 3. That such witness subscribed his name 
thereto as a witness thereof.  
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NRS 111.340  Certificate of acknowledgment and record may be 
rebutted.  Neither the certificate of the acknowledgment nor of the 
proof of any conveyance or instrument, nor the record, nor the transcript 
of the record, of such conveyance or instrument, shall be conclusive, but 
the same may be rebutted.  
 
NRS 111.345  Proof taken upon oath of incompetent witness: 
Instrument not admissible until established by competent proof.  If 
the party contesting the proof of any conveyance or instrument shall make 
it appear that any such proof was taken upon the oath of an incompetent 
witness, neither such conveyance or instrument, nor the record thereof, 
shall be received in evidence, until established by other competent proof.  
 

NRS CHAPTER 240 - NOTARY PUBLICS 
 
40. The notary has to keep a journal with a specific record of every notarial act 

performed (NRS 240.120) 

 
NRS 240.120  Journal of notarial acts: Duty to maintain; contents; 
verification based upon credible witness; copy of entry; storage; period of 
retention; report of loss or theft; exceptions. 
      1.  Except as otherwise provided in subsection 2, each notary public 
shall keep a journal in his or her office in which the notary public shall 
enter for each notarial act performed, at the time the act is performed: 

      (a) The fees charged, if any; 
      (b) The title of the document; 
      (c) The date on which the notary public performed the act; 

      (d) Except as otherwise provided in subsection 3, the name and 
signature of the person whose signature is being notarized; 

      (e) Subject to the provisions of subsection 4, a description of the 
evidence used by the notary public to verify the identification of the 
person whose signature is being notarized; 
      (f) An indication of whether the notary public administered an oath; 
and 
      (g) The type of certificate used to evidence the notarial act, as 
required pursuant to NRS 240.1655. 
 
      4.  If, pursuant to subsection 3, a notary public does not require a 
person to sign the journal, the notary public shall enter “known 
personally” as the description required to be entered into the journal 
pursuant to paragraph (e) of subsection 1. 
      5.  If the notary verifies the identification of the person whose 
signature is being notarized on the basis of a credible witness, the notary 
public shall: 

EX PARTE 046 STRICKENTOBIN. 1203



 

Page 18 of 22 

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

 

      (a) Require the witness to sign the journal in the space provided for 
the description of the evidence used; and 
      (b) Make a notation in the journal that the witness is a credible 
witness. 
      6.  The journal must: 
      (a) Be open to public inspection. 
      (b) Be in a bound volume with preprinted page numbers. 
      7.  A notary public shall, upon request and payment of the fee set 
forth in NRS 240.100, provide a certified copy of an entry in his or her 
journal. 
      9.  A notary public shall retain each journal that the notary public 
has kept pursuant to this section until 7 years after the date on which he 
or she ceases to be a notary public. 

 
41. There are penalties for notarizing a signature when the person is not there 

(NRS 240.155). 

NRS 240.155  Notarization of signature of person not in presence of 
notary public unlawful; penalty.  
1.  A notary public who is appointed pursuant to this chapter shall not 
willfully notarize the signature of a person unless the person is in the 
presence of the notary public and: 
(a) Is known to the notary public; or 
(b) If unknown to the notary public, provides a credible witness or 
documentary evidence of identification to the notary public. 

 
 
C. NRS CHAPTER 205 - CRIMES AGAINST PROPERTY 
 
42. Serious criminal penalties are possible if a person executes or notarizes an 

instrument knowingly create a false claim of an interest in property 

 
NRS 205.395  False representation concerning title; penalties; civil 
action. 
      1.  Every person who: 
      (b) Executes or notarizes a document purporting to create an interest 
in, or a lien or encumbrance against, real property, that is recorded in the 
office of the county recorder in which the real property is located and who 
knows or has reason to know that the document is forged or groundless, 
contains a material misstatement or false claim or is otherwise invalid; or 
Ê has made a false representation concerning title. 
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      2.  A person who makes a false representation concerning title in 
violation of subsection 1 is guilty of a category C felony and shall be 
punished as provided in NRS 193.130. 
 

II. ARGUMENT 

A. Tobin deserves quiet title as Jimijack evidence of ownership is inadmissible 

43. Plaintiff’s sole claim to ownership, an inadmissible quit claim deed, recorded June 9, 

2015,  is fraught with notary violations that rendered it void. 

44. There is no record in the notary's journal of the Jimijack deed to document notary 

CluAynne M. Corwin witnessed Yuen Lee, execute a deed to transfer title on June 8, 2015 

to Plaintiff Jimijack. 

45. Pursuant to NRS 111.345, the quit claim deed, recorded on June 9, 2015 which purported 
to convey F. Bondurant LLC's interest to Plaintiff Jimijack is not admissible as evidence 
to support a claim of ownership. 

 "If the party contesting the proof of any conveyance or instrument shall make 
it appear that any such proof was taken upon the oath of an incompetent 
witness, neither such conveyance or instrument, nor the record thereof, shall 
be received in evidence, until established by other competent proof." 

46. The validity of the June 8, 2015 deed is rebuttable pursuant to NRS 111.340, which states  

"Neither the certificate of the acknowledgment nor of the proof of any 
conveyance or instrument, nor the record, nor the transcript of the record, of 
such conveyance or instrument, shall be conclusive, but the same may be 
rebutted". 
 

B. Tobin deserves quiet title as Jimijack’s recorded claim of ownership is contradicted 
by Sun City Anthem’s ownership record. 
 

47. Joel and Sandra Stokes offered no proof to establish how Jimijack acquired the property. 

48. Joel and Sandra Stokes offered no proof to resolve the conflict in the records. 

49. Joel and Sandra Stokes offered no proof of the existence of a written purchase agreement. 
 

C. Nona Tobin, an Individual, is the only party seeking quiet title who has a valid deed 
on record.  
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50. Tobin’s August 27, 2008 Grant Sale Bargain Deed and March 28, 2017 quit claim deeds have 

priority over Jimijack’s invalid deed. 

51. Nona Tobin’s deed, recorded on 3/28/17, is the only valid, admissible deed on record held 

by a party to this case who is seeking to quiet title in its favor.  

52. On March 8, 2017, Thomas Lucas/Opportunity Homes, LLC’s Disclaimer of interest was 

filed into this case.  

53. On March 13, 2017Yuen K. Lee/F. Bondurant, LLC's Disclaimer of Interest, filed into this 

case.  
54. Jimijack’s deed, executed on 6/4/15 and recorded on 6/9/15, is inadmissible as evidence as 

it did not comply with applicable NRS 111 and NRS 240 provisions. 

55. Jimijack’s 12/12/18 responses to Tobin’s ROGGs did not provide any evidence to resolve 

the conflicts in the record. 

56. No one has taken any actions on Plaintiffs’ behalf to cure the defects that rendered the 

Jimijack deed null and void. 

57. Tobin’s ownership claim, as evidenced by a valid 3/28/17 deed, is superior to Jimijack’s. 

58. The 6/8/15 quit claim deed, recorded on 6/9/15, is Jimijack’s only recorded claim to title. 

59. Jimijack’s only recorded claim of ownership is fraught with notarial errors rendering it 

void pursuant to NRS 111.345. 

60. Jimijack does not have a written purchase agreement. 

61. Jimijack’s recorded claim of ownership is contradicted by HOA records which say that 

Jimijack became the second owner after Gordon B. Hansen on September 25, 2014. 

62. Jimijack never participated in mediation as required by NRS 38. 310. 

 

CONCLUSION 
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 Tobin respectfully moves the court to award quiet title against Jimijack as Tobin’s 3/28/17 

deed takes priority over Jimijack’s contradictory and inadmissible claims of ownership.  

 Nationstar is not prejudiced in any way by an award of quiet title to Tobin on the basis of 

the superiority of her deed to Jimijack’s.  

 Nationstar simply would be expected to conform to the requirements of NRS chapter 107, 

as amended by AB 284 (2011), to establish standing to foreclose on the property rather than 

getting an undeserved windfall through trickery and deception. 

 

                ____________________________________ 
 NONA TOBIN 

2664 Olivia Heights Avenue 
Henderson NV 89052 

Phone: (702) 465-2199 
nonatobin@gmail.com 

   Defendant-in Intervention/ Cross-Claimant     
        In Proper Person  
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CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE 

I, _________________________HEREBY CERTIFY that on this _______DAY OF APRIL 

2019 and pursuant to NRCP 5(b),  I served via the Clark County electronic filing system a true 

and correct copy of the foregoing  NONA TOBIN’S OPPOSITIONTO NATIONSTAR 

MORTGAGE’S MOTION FOR SUMMARY JUDGMENT AGAINST JIMJACK AND 

TOBIN’S COUNTER-MOTION FOR SUMMARY JUDGMENT AGAINST JIMJACK, 

addressed to: 

Michael R. Mushkin & Associates 
L. Joe Coppedge joe@mushlaw.com
Karen L. Foley karen@mushlaw.com
Michael R. Mushkin michael@mushlaw.com
Lipson Neilson P.C.
Susana Nutt snutt@lipsonneilson.com
Renee Rittenhouse rrittenhouse@lipsonneilson.com
Kaleb Anderson kanderson@lipsonneilson.com
David Ochoa dochoa@lipsonneilson.com
Ashley Scott-Johnson ascott-johnson@lipsonneilson.com
Medrala Law Firm, PLLC
Jakub P Medrala jmedrala@medralaw.com
Shuchi Patel spatel@medralaw.com
Office admin@medralaw.com
Hong & Hong APLC
Joseph Y. Hong, Esq. yosuphonglaw@gmail.com
Pro Se
Nona Tobin nonatobin@gmail.com
Michael Kelley mkelley@wrightlegal.net
NVEfile nvefile@wrightlegal.net

___________________________________________ 

Nona Tobin 10th
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MICHAEL R. MUSHKIN 
Nevada Bar No. 2421 
L. JOE COPPEDGE
Nevada Bar No. 4954
MUSHKIN CICA COPPEDGE
4475 S. Pecos Road
Las Vegas, NV 89121
Telephone: 702-386-3999
Facsimile: 702-454-3333
Michael@mushlaw.com
Joe@mushlaw.com

Attorneys for Nona Tobin, an individual and 
as Trustee of the Gordon B. Hansen Trust 

DISTRICT COURT 

CLARK COUNTY, NEVADA 

JOEL A. STOKES and SANDRA F. 
STOKES, as trustee for the JIMIJACK 
IRREVOCABLE TRUST, 

Plaintiff, 

vs. 

BANK OF AMERICA, N.A 

Defendant. 

Case No.:  A-15-720032-C 

Consolidated with:  A-16-730078-C 

Department:  XXXI 

DECLARATION OF NONA TOBIN IN 

OPPOSITION TO NATIONSTAR’S 

MOTION FOR SUMMARY JUDGMENT  

NATIONSTAR MORTGAGE LLC 

        Counter-claimant, 

vs. 

JIMIJACK IRREVOCABLE TRUST, 

      Counter-defendant. 

________________________________ 

NONA TOBIN, an Individual and Trustee of 
the GORDON B. HANSEN TRUST, Dated 
8/22/08, 

    Counter-claimant, 

DRAFTED
NOT BEFORE 
CONSIDERED 
BY COURT
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vs. 

JOEL A. STOKES and SANDRA F. 
STOKES, as trustee for the JIMIJACK 
IRREVOCABLE TRUST, SUN CITY 
ANTHEM COMMUNITY ASSOCIATION, 
INC., YUEN K. LEE, an Individual, d/b/a 
Manager, F.BONDURANT, LLC, and DOES 
1-10, AND ROE CORPORATIONS 1-10,
inclusive,

      Counter-defendants. 

DECLARATION OF NONA TOBIN 

Nona Tobin, under penalty of perjury, states as follows: 

I have personal knowledge of the facts stated herein, except for those facts stated to be 

based upon information and belief. If called to do so, I would truthfully and competently testify 

to the facts stated herein, except those facts stated to be based upon information and relief. 

I am submitting the attached exhibits to dispute alleged facts in Nationstar’s March 21, 

2019 Motion for Summary Judgment. 

Exhibits of recorded and filed documents that refute Nationstar’s claims re Jimijack 

1. I prepared the affidavit, filed September 16, 2016, in support of Nona Tobin's and Steve

Hansen's Motion to Intervene that was denied without prejudice (See Exhibit 1) which shows

my intent to address the issue of voiding the sale before I asserted claims against Nationstar.

2. Exhibit 2 is the January 11, 2017 order, entered on January 12, 2017, granting Nona

Tobin's Motion to Intervene.

3. Exhibit 3 is NSM 190, wherein notary CluAynne M. Corwin witnessed Yuen K. Lee's

signature as if Thomas Lucas stood before her.

4. There is no record in the notary's journal of the deed in which, notary CluAynne M.
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Corwin documented that she had witnessed Yuen K. Lee, execute a deed to transfer title on June 

8, 2015 to Plaintiff Jimijack. 

5. Pursuant to NRS 111.345,. the quit claim deed, recorded on June 9, 2015 which 

purported to convey F. Bondurant LLC's interest to Plaintiff Jimjack is not admissible as 

evidence to support a claim of ownership.

 "If the party contesting the proof of any conveyance or instrument shall make it appear 
that any such proof was taken upon the oath of an incompetent witness, neither such 
conveyance or instrument, nor the record thereof, shall be received in evidence, until 
established by other competent proof." 

6. I rebut the validity of the June 8, 2015 deed pursuant to NRS 111.340, which states

"Neither the certificate of the acknowledgment nor of the proof of any 
conveyance or instrument, nor the record, nor the transcript of the record, of 
such conveyance or instrument, shall be conclusive, but the same may be 
rebutted", 

7. Exhibit 4 is Opportunity Homes, LLC/Thomas Lucas Disclaimer of Interest, filed into

this case on March 8, 2013

8. Exhibit 5 is Steve Hansen's Disclaimer of Interest, recorded on March 28, 2017.

9. Exhibit 6 is Thomas Lucas/Opportunity Homes, LLC’s Disclaimer of interest, filed into

this case on March 8, 2017.

10. Exhibit 7 is  Yuen K. Lee/F. Bondurant, LLC's Disclaimer of Interest, filed into this case

on March 13, 2017.

11. Exhibit 8, the only valid deed on record by a party to this case who is seeking to quiet

title in its favor, conveys title to Nona Tobin..

12. As Trustee, of the Gordon B. Hansen Trust, dated August 2, 2008, I transferred any and

all of the Gordon B. Hansen Trust's interest in the property, to Nona Tobin, an individual, the

copy of which in Exhibit 8 was retrieved from Nationstar’s disclosure NSM 0208-0211.

//

// 
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Exhibits of recorded and filed documents that refute Nationstar’s claims to own the DOT 

13. Exhibit 9 shows On December 1, 2014. Nationstar, alleging to be BANA’s  “attorney-in-

fact”, recorded an assignment of BANA’s interest to Nationstar, effective on October 23, 2014 

although Nationstar's disclosures, NSM0001 through NSM0413 did not disclose any document 

that gave it legal authorization to act as BANA's attorney-in-fact. Nationstar merely refers to its 

December 1, 2014 assignment of BANA’s interest to itself as  "an assignment outside the chain 

of title."  

14. Exhibit 10 is Nationstar’s March 8, 2019 recorded Rescission of the disputed December

1, 2014 self-assignment (from BANA to Nationstar), (NSM 0409-411), that stated 

"they nullify and invalidate the assignment to same extent and effect as though 
the assignment had never been issued and recorded.” 

15. Exhibit 11 (NSM0412-0413) disclosed that on March 28, 2019, Nationstar recorded a

"Corporate Assignment of Deed of Trust", executed on February 25, 2019, by Nationstar, acting 

as Wells Fargo's "attorney-in-fact", assigned the deed of trust to Nationstar again. 

16. Exhibit 12 is NSM 0270-0272, the only limited power of attorney disclosed by

Nationstar, but which is inapplicable to the deeds of trust in this case. 

17. The document in NSM 0270-0272 is irrelevant as it did not authorize Nationstar to

execute  any assignment of any deed of trust, executed by Gordon Hansen, as Wells Fargo’s 

attorney-in-fact that are disputed in this case. 

18. Nationstar's disclosures NSM0001 through NSM0413 did not disclose any document

that gave Nationstar legal authorization to act as BANA’s or Wells Fargo's attorney-in-fact for 

either corporate assignment, executed on October 23, 2014, and February 25, 2019. 

19. The Wells Fargo limited power of attorney disclosed by Nationstar NSM 270-272 was

“valid only for a period of six months from April 1, 2016 unless cancelled prior to said date”, 

and was not in effect and would not legitimize either corporate assignment, executed on 

October 23, 2014, and February 25, 2019, by Nationstar claiming to be Wells Fargo’s “attorney-

in-fact”.  

20. Exhibit 13 is the recorded Wells Fargo SUBSTITUTION OF TRUSTEE AND FULL
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RECONVEYANCE, not include in Nationstar’s disclosures, executed on March 2, 2015 by 

Lisa Wilm, Wells Fargo Vice President Loan Documentation. 

21. Exhibit 14 is a Substitution of Trustee, recorded on August 17, 2015,  executed by 

Nationstar on August 6, 2015, acting as Wells Fargo’s attorney in fact which Nationstar failed 

to include in its disclosures. 

22. Exhibit 15 (NSM 258-260) is a COPY of the note which is not admissible proof that 

Nationstar holds the ORIGINAL note. In fact, absent holding the original note, Nationstar 

cannot claim it is the noteholder the any more than I could claim that some debtor owed me 

money if I held only a copy of that debtor’s I.O.U. to a third party, particularly if that copy of 

the note was never endorsed to me. 

23. I declare under penalty of perjury under the laws of the State of Nevada that the 

foregoing is true and correct 

 

Dated the ______day of March 2019, 

 

 

    _______________________________________ 

    Nona Tobin 

 

 

 

22nd
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